**S272627**

No. \_\_\_\_\_

**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

---

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,  
*Plaintiff and Respondent,*

v.

RODNEY TAUREAN LEWIS,  
*Defendant and Appellant.*

---

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G060049  
Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. B136626  
The Honorable Vincent J. Chiarello, Judge

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)  
*Attorney General of California*  
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)  
*Chief Assistant Attorney General*  
JEFFREY M. LAURENCE (SBN 183595)  
*Senior Assistant Attorney General*  
SETH K. SCHALIT (SBN 150578)  
*Supervising Deputy Attorney General*

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether the instructions as a whole correctly conveyed the quantum of force required for kidnapping for rape when an adult victim is incapable of consenting to the movement.
2. Whether any error in the force element of the kidnapping instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
3. Whether substantial evidence supported the force element of kidnapping so that retrial is not barred under the double jeopardy clause.

### **INTRODUCTION**

The victim met appellant at a bar, where he lied about having found her lost phone and plied her with alcohol and dosed her with alprazolam. The victim did not remember what happened after that, but the evidence showed that she left the bar with appellant, he drove her towards his home, and then she was discovered in a parking lot the following morning, unconscious, raped, and wrapped in appellant's sheet. A jury convicted appellant of rape and kidnapping to commit rape.

A divided Court of Appeal reversed the kidnapping conviction on the ground that the given jury instruction eliminated the element of force. However, the conflicting case law on this issue strongly suggests that the only force required in a case such as this, where the victim is an incapacitated adult and the defendant acts with illegal intent, is that required to effectuate the victim's movement. Review is necessary for this Court to clarify its previous statements on the issue and to enunciate the proper quantum of force.

The Court of Appeal found the purported instructional error prejudicial. However, in doing so, it applied its incorrect view of the quantum of force required. Applying a correct understanding of force and considering all the evidence and the verdicts, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Review is necessary to clarify the application of kidnapping to the common factual scenario presented here and to secure uniformity of decision.

The Court of Appeal also barred retrial on the kidnapping charge by tersely finding no evidence that appellant had used force to get his victim to leave the bar or enter his car. The Court of Appeal never afforded respondent an opportunity to brief the sufficiency of the evidence of force (an error under Government Code section 68081 that was identified in respondent's petition for rehearing), and its truncated discussion neither recites nor applies the settled principles of law governing these claims. Given the significant effect of the retrial bar and the broadly incorrect analysis employed by the majority in its published

opinion, review is also necessary to correct this serious misapplication of settled law and secure uniformity of decision in light of this Court's past discussions of the role of an appellate court in reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. The crime and trial**

Appellant met the victim Suzanne Doe at a bar in Palo Alto. Doe had lost her phone somewhere at the bar, and appellant falsely told her that "a friend of his had found a phone." (5RT 1232.) Believing appellant, Doe had some drinks with him while waiting for the supposed friend to return with her phone. (5RT 1235.) The bartender thought that Doe was intoxicated and refused to serve Doe additional alcohol. (5RT 1318.) However, appellant convinced the bartender to serve him additional alcohol that Doe ultimately consumed. (5RT 1319.) Doe's memory ended at that point. (5RT 1235.) Security video from the bar showed Doe walking out of the bar with appellant shortly thereafter, around 12:45 a.m. (9RT 2414.)

The following morning, Doe was discovered in a parking lot, unconscious and wrapped in a sheet. (5RT 1300.) She had bruises on her arms, legs, and feet, and abrasions on her back. (8RT 2214-2215.) She had been raped and involuntarily drugged with alprazolam (7RT 1898, 1903; 8RT 2223-2224), a drug that can cause loss of consciousness or memory, especially when combined with alcohol (7RT 1903). She was taken to a hospital, where her memory began again. (5RT 1238.) At 11:00 a.m., she had a blood-alcohol concentration of 0.18. (9RT 2435.)

When contacted by the police, appellant claimed that he had offered Doe a ride home, and she had accepted. (6RT 1612.) Appellant said Doe had been “passing out” in the car. (6RT 1613.) He said Doe had “started freaking out” and that he had let her out in a driveway. (6RT 1613.) He denied having had sex with Doe until the police said they had a warrant for his DNA, after which he admitted having had sex with her. (6RT 1617.) Appellant’s phone records undercut his claims. The records showed that he had driven home from the bar—away from Doe’s residence—and that he had called his girlfriend within minutes of leaving the bar. (9RT 2547-2548, 2552.) The sheet Doe had been found in belonged to appellant. (6RT 1618.)

In 2017, the Santa Clara County District Attorney charged appellant with rape of a person prevented from resisting by an intoxicating substance (Pen. Code, § 261, subd. (a)(3))<sup>1</sup> and kidnapping to commit rape (§ 209, subd. (b)(1)). (2CT 356-357.)

The trial court instructed the jury that to convict appellant of kidnapping to commit rape, the prosecution had to prove:

1. The defendant intended to commit rape of a woman while intoxicated;
2. Acting with that intent, the defendant used *physical force or deception* to take and carry away an unresisting person with a mental impairment;
3. Acting with that intent, the defendant moved the person with a mental impairment a substantial distance;

---

<sup>1</sup> All further undesignated statutory references are to the Penal Code.

4. The person with a mental impairment was moved or made to move a distance beyond that merely incidental to the commission of a rape of a woman while intoxicated;

5. When that movement began, the defendant already intended to commit rape of a woman while intoxicated;

6. Suzanne Doe suffered from a mental impairment that made her incapable of giving legal consent to the movement;

AND

7. The defendant knew or reasonably should have known that Suzanne Doe was a person with a mental impairment.

(3CT 791, italics added.)

The jury convicted appellant of both charged crimes. (3CT 759-760.)

Appellant moved for a new trial on the ground that the instruction on kidnapping to commit rape had permitted the jury to find him guilty of kidnapping even if it had found that he used “no force at all.” (17RT 4806.) The prosecution responded that the instruction required the jury to find that appellant “took and carried [Doe] away . . . a substantial distance” and “if a jury is instructed on (and properly finds) that the defendant moved the victim a substantial distance [it] must have properly found the required force for purposes of Penal Code section 209(b).” (3CT 878.) The trial court denied the motion. (17RT 4811.)

## **B. The Court of Appeal decision**

The Court of Appeal concluded that the instruction on kidnapping to commit rape was erroneous, as it permitted the jury to convict appellant “based on deception alone.” (Opn. 10.)

Section 209, subdivision (b)(1) provides, “Any person who kidnaps or carries away any individual to commit . . . rape . . . shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for life with the possibility of parole.” The court noted, “Kidnap in section 209 means the same as kidnapping in section 207,” which defines kidnapping as occurring when a person “forcibly, or by any other means of instilling fear, steals or takes, or holds, detains, or arrests any person in this state, and carries the person into another country, state, or county, or into another part of the same county.” (Opn. 10-11.) The court observed that because of this statutory definition, “asportation by fraud alone does not constitute general kidnapping in California.” (Opn. 11.)

The Court of Appeal recognized “two lines of cases where courts have recognized a reduced quantum of force was permissible in a kidnapping case.” (Opn. 11.) The first line involves minors. (Opn. 11-12 [citing, inter alia, *People v. Westerfield* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 632, 639, 713-714 and *In re Michele D.* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 600, 603, 610-612 & fn. 5].) The court reasoned that “[t]he cases involving minors are inapposite” because “Doe was 22 years old at the time of the offense—she was not a minor.” (Opn. 12.)

The second line of cases “involves incapacitated persons.” (Opn. 12 [citing, inter alia, *People v. Dejourney* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 1091, 1115 and *People v. Daniels* (2009) 176

Cal.App.4th 304, 331].) The court considered *Daniels* to be “[t]he only case that arguably suggests the trial court’s instruction was proper.” (Opn. 13.) The court observed that in *Daniels*, the victim “was highly intoxicated” and the jury had been instructed to convict only if it found that “the defendant used enough physical force to take and carry away an unresisting person with a mental impairment[.]” (Opn. 13.) *Daniels* explained, “[O]rdinarily the force element in section 207 requires *something more* than the quantum of physical force necessary to effect movement of the victim from one location to another. [Citation.] Since an incapacitated person, like an infant, has no ability to resist being taken and carried away, the something more that is ordinarily required is not necessary, and the amount of force required to kidnap an [incapacitated person] is simply the amount of physical force required to take and carry the [incapacitated person] away . . . with an illegal intent.” (Opn. 13.) In contrast with the instruction given in *Daniels*, the Court of Appeal held that “the trial court’s instruction did not relax the force requirement—the instruction completely eliminated it” (Opn. 14) because the instruction “permitted the jury to conclude [appellant] carried away Doe by ‘physical force *or* deception’” (Opn. 15).

The court rejected the argument that the instructions were nevertheless correct as a whole. For example, the instruction required that the jury find appellant have “moved the person with a mental impairment a substantial distance.” (Opn. 15.) The court noted that the trial court had “omitted the introductory

clause” provided in CALCRIM No. 1203 for that element, “Using that force or fear.” (Opn. 15.) The court reiterated that “California law does not allow kidnapping of an adult to be based on deception alone.” (Opn. 15.)

The Court of Appeal held that the instructional error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (Opn. 16-17.) The other portions of the verdict did not demonstrate that the jury necessarily found appellant had used force, and the bar surveillance video “does not unequivocally support the conclusion [appellant] used force to make Doe leave the bar.” (Opn. 17.) The court rejected the suggestion that the kidnapping might have begun at a later point because “the record is devoid of any evidence [appellant] forced Doe into his car or refused to let her out once she was in his car.” (Opn. 18.)

The Court of Appeal then turned to the remedy for the error. It began, “Here, there was an instructional error, a trial error not implicating the Double Jeopardy Clause, which would permit the prosecutor to retry [appellant].” (Opn. 19.) However, the court also found “an evidentiary void concerning the pivotal issue of force” and reasoned that appellant “could not” have been convicted had the jury been properly instructed. (Opn. 19.) Accordingly, the appellate court concluded, “Because there is insufficient evidence [appellant] used force against Doe, retrial of the aggravated kidnapping charge is precluded.” (Opn. 20.)

### **C. The concurring and dissenting opinion**

Justice Bedsworth concurred and dissented. He believed the kidnapping instruction was proper, stating “While force or fear is

generally required to satisfy the asportation requirement of kidnapping [citation], courts have tempered that requirement when, due to age or mental incapacity, the victim is unable to lawfully consent to being moved.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 7.)

Justice Bedsworth considered several cases addressing the force requirement for kidnapping. Of particular significance was *Parnell v. Superior Court* (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 392, in which “the defendant and his cohort fraudulently induced a seven-year-old boy into their car and retained him against his will for an extended period of time thereafter.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 8.) Although the boy had been forcibly confined, *Parnell* had recognized that his age precluded him from legally consenting to any movement, and thus even if he had *not* been forcibly confined, the kidnapping could have been accomplished “even if unaccompanied by force so long as it was done for an improper purpose.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 8-9, internal quotation marks omitted.) Justice Bedsworth noted that this Court endorsed *Parnell* in *Michele D.*, in which this Court stated, “[O]ur holding in [*People v. Oliver* (1961) 55 Cal.2d 761]—that, where the victim by reason of youth or mental incapacity can neither give nor withhold consent, kidnapping is established by proof that the victim was taken for an improper purpose or improper intent—was reasonably extended in *Parnell* . . . to encompass [the] situation [where], because of the victim’s youth, there is no evidence the victim’s will was overcome by force.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 9.)

Justice Bedsworth also considered *Westerfield*, which “stated that even if the young victim in the case was persuaded to leave her home by trickery, as opposed to force or fear, ‘she could not have legally consented and was still kidnapped if she was taken away a substantial distance for an illegal purpose or with an illegal intent.’” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 11.)

Based upon his analysis of the case law, Justice Bedsworth sent concluded, “Although the Supreme Court has never squarely held as much, I believe *Oliver* and its progeny support the conclusion that kidnapping an adult . . . incapable of giving consent can be based on either force *or* deception.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 12.)

Justice Bedsworth would also have affirmed “on harmless error grounds.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 13.) He reasoned that a properly instructed jury would have been required to find that “appellant, acting with unlawful intent, used enough force to take and carry [Doe] away a substantial distance while she was mentally incapacitated.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 13-14.) Even though it was “certainly possible” that appellant had not used force to get Doe to leave the bar, the evidence showed that “appellant clearly and indisputably used enough force to move her a substantial distance” by driving Doe in his car. (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 14.) Thus, a properly instructed jury “would have found the asportation requirement satisfied based on the legally valid theory of movement by force.” (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 14.) For the same reason, Justice Bedsworth would have permitted retrial. (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 14-15.)

#### **D. Respondent's petition for rehearing**

Respondent petitioned for rehearing on the issue of the sufficiency of the evidence that appellant used force in kidnapping Doe. Appellant had not challenged the sufficiency of the evidence of force in his opening brief (cf. AOB 24-31 [challenging sufficiency of evidence of intent and knowledge]) and had requested a new trial based upon the instructional error (AOB 20). After briefing had concluded, the Court of Appeal requested simultaneous supplemental briefing on the “proper remedy” for instructional error, at which point appellant argued that retrial was prohibited because there was insufficient evidence of force. (ASOB 2.)

In the petition for rehearing, respondent argued that rehearing was required under Government Code section 68081 because it had not been provided an opportunity to brief the sufficiency of the evidence of force. Respondent also detailed the substantial evidence of force presented at trial. The Court of Appeal denied the petition, with Justice Bedsworth dissenting.

#### **REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW**

Review is necessary to settle an important question of law and to secure uniformity of decision. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Court of Appeal's holding on instructional error conflicts with this Court's repeated statements that the force requirement for kidnapping is relaxed when the victim is a minor or a person unable to give legal consent to the movement and the kidnapper has an illegal purpose or intent. Review is necessary to clarify and enunciate the proper quantum of force required to kidnap a mentally incapacitated adult.

The Court of Appeal found the instructional error prejudicial after ignoring other properly given instructions and the jury’s factual findings under those instructions. Review is necessary to resolve the issue of whether any instructional error in this case was harmless and to secure uniformity of decision on the circumstances that prove kidnapping of an incapacitated adult beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Court of Appeal barred retrial after concluding there was insufficient evidence of force. However, the court failed to provide an opportunity to brief this issue and failed to consider the entire record in the light most favorable to the judgment. As respondent argued in its petition for rehearing, there was substantial evidence of force because a rational juror could have concluded that Doe withdrew her consent or went unconscious after getting in appellant’s car, after which appellant forcibly moved her to wherever he raped her, thereby applying force without her consent. The Court of Appeal’s truncated analysis failed to correctly apply legal principles that this Court has previously admonished Courts of Appeal to apply. Review should be granted to secure uniformity of decision.

**I. THIS COURT SHOULD CLARIFY AND ENUNCIATE THE CORRECT QUANTUM OF FORCE REQUIRED TO KIDNAP AN INCAPACITATED ADULT**

The Court of Appeal held that the trial court committed alternative-theory error (see *People v. Aledamat* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1, 7, fn. 3) by defining one of the elements of kidnapping as requiring the use of “force or deception” to take and carry away Doe. (Opn. 15.) The Court of Appeal reasoned that the

instruction improperly eliminated the force requirement for kidnapping, permitting a conviction without any finding of force if the jury found deception. (Opn. 11-16.) The Court of Appeal did not enunciate the correct quantum of force required to kidnap an incapacitated adult, and there are conflicting statements on that issue by this Court. Review is necessary to clarify and enunciate the correct standard.

**A. Cases use conflicting language to describe the force requirement**

In 1961, this Court considered a kidnapping conviction in which the two-year-old victim willingly went with the defendant. (*Oliver, supra*, 55 Cal.2d 761.) *Oliver* held that the victim had been kidnapped despite his having gone willingly because he was unable to consent and the defendant had an illegal purpose or illegal intent. (*Id.* at p. 768.) Other courts construed that holding as implying “that the kidnap[p]ing of a minor can be accomplished *even if unaccompanied by force* so long as it was done for an improper purpose.” (*Parnell, supra*, 119 Cal.App.3d at p. 402, fn. 3, italics added.)

In 2002, this Court approved *Parnell*'s construction, stating, “[O]ur holding in *Oliver*—that, where the victim by reason of youth or mental incapacity can neither give nor withhold consent, kidnapping is established by proof that the victim was taken for an improper purpose or improper intent—was reasonably extended in *Parnell* and [*People v. Rios* (1986) 177 Cal.App.3d 445] to encompass situations in which, because of the victim’s youth, there is no evidence the victim’s will was overcome by force.” (*Michele D., supra*, 29 Cal.4th at p. 609; see *id.* at p. 612,

fn. 5 [“We note that our decision here affects only a narrow class of cases in which an unresisting infant or small child is taken away without any force or fear”]; *People v. Hill* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 855, 857 [“We need not, and do not, decide whether, or to what extent, the *Oliver* decision eliminated the need to show as to a child force or fear in addition to an illegal purpose, or whether the illegal purpose itself establishes force or fear”].) *Michele D.* held that “the amount of force required to kidnap an unresisting infant or child is simply the amount of physical force required to take and carry the child away a substantial distance for an illegal purpose or with an illegal intent.” (29 Cal.4th at p. 610; see *id.* at p. 613 [referring to “relaxation” of the force requirement for small children].) The Legislature codified this holding in Penal Code section 207, subdivision (e). (Stats. 2003, ch. 23, § 1.)

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