S272627

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

RODNEY TAUREAN LEWIS, Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division Three, No. G060049 Santa Clara County Superior Court No. B136626, Hon. Vincent J. Chiarello

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Edward W. Swanson (SBN 159859) ed@smllp.law August Gugelmann (SBN 240544) august@smllp.law SWANSON & McNAMARA LLP 300 Montgomery Street, Suite 1100 San Francisco, California 94104 Telephone: (415) 477-3800 Facsimile: (415) 477-9010

Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant Rodney Lewis

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

A. The Court of Appeal correctly set forth the quantum of force required to kidnap an incapacitated adult.

The State claims "the Court of Appeal did not enunciate the correct quantum of force required to kidnap an incapacitated adult." (Petition, 18.) The State is wrong. The court explained that "the amount of force required to kidnap an incapacitated person is simply the amount of physical force required to take and carry the incapacitated person away with an illegal intent." (*Lewis*, 72 Cal.App.5th at 14-15 [*quoting People v. Daniels* (2009)

176 Cal.App.4th 304, 332, internal alterations omitted].) The State offers nothing to suggest this standard is inaccurate; to the contrary, it cites the exact same standard in its own petition. (Petition, 21.) Given the Court of Appeal's correct recitation of the standard, nothing in its opinion "conflicts with this Court's repeated statements that the force requirement for kidnapping is relaxed when the victim is a minor or a person unable to give legal consent to the movement and the kidnapper has an illegal purpose or intent." (*Id.* at 16.)

It is true that the Court of Appeals did not explicitly consider how the standard that it correctly enunciated applied to the facts before it, but there was no need. Having held that some degree of force was required, the court then searched the record for evidence to satisfy that requirement. As discussed further below, it found "no evidence of force to support a kidnapping conviction." (*Lewis*, 72 Cal.App.5th at 20.) Given that Appellant used no force at all – of any quantum – the court naturally did not need to consider whether "no force" meets a "reduced quantum of force" standard.

The Court of Appeal correctly set forth the standard that the State agrees should have applied. There is thus no conflict

between this case and the decision of any other court and no basis for review to "secure uniformity of decision." (Rule of Court 8.500(b).)

B. There is no lack of uniformity in the law of kidnapping with respect to incapacitated adult victims.

Not only did the Court of Appeal set forth the quantum of force the State agrees is required to kidnap an incapacitated adult, but, contrary to the State's claim, there is no lack of uniformity in the case law on this point.

With respect to adult victims, the law is clear and uniform. As this Court has consistently held for decades, force or fear is required to kidnap an adult. (*See People v. Rhoden* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 519, 527; *People v. Stephenson* (1974) 10 Cal.3d 652, 660; *People v. Camden* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 808, 814; *People v. Green* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1, 64; *People v. Davis* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 463, 517 fn.13; *People v. Majors* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 321, 327; *People v. Rountree* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 823, 853; *People v. Westerfield* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 632, 713.)

The issue of *how much* force is necessary to kidnap an adult was not at issue at trial or in the Court of Appeal's opinion because, as set forth above, there was no evidence of any force at all. In any event, there is no lack of unanimity on that question either.

The State identifies a single case, *Daniels*, *supra*, 176 Cal.App.4th at 332, which "relaxe[d] but [did] not eliminate the force requirement" in holding that it takes less force to kidnap an incapacitated adult than a conscious one. (*Id.* [holding that kidnapping an incapacitated adult requires "the amount of physical force required to take and carry the incapacitated person away with an illegal intent"].) The State cites no case that disagrees with *Daniels*. It attempts in passing to create the appearance of a dispute between *Daniels* and *People v. Hartland* (2020) 54 Cal.App.5th 71, but there is no conflict. (Petition, 21.) *Hartland* did not consider the quantum of force, much less disagree with *Daniels*.¹ There simply is no lack of uniformity on the question of how much force is required to kidnap an adult.

¹ *Hartland* addressed whether the jury should be required to find a defendant "acted with illegal purpose or motive" before convicting him of kidnapping an intoxicated, resisting victim, who was violently dragged into a car and held there by force, with the defendant grabbing and choking her when she tried to exit as they drove. (*Hartland*, 54 Cal.App.5th at 76.) The court found there is no such requirement but was not asked to – and did not – consider the necessary quantum of force. (*Id.* at 80.)

In an effort to make it appear there is a dispute among California courts about how much force is necessary to constitute kidnapping, the State turns to cases involving children, asserting that "the issue of whether the quantum of force for kidnapping small children [is] 'relaxed' or entirely eliminated" has become "clouded." (Petition, 19.) Whatever the merits of the State's position, it is irrelevant. This case did not involve a child. The Court of Appeal correctly found cases involving minors "inapposite" given the "alternative standard in kidnapping cases involving children." (Lewis, 72 Cal.App.5th at 13-14 [noting that the legislature has codified the different standards applicable to adult and child victims in Penal Code § 207(e)].) A purported lack of uniformity in the case law regarding the kidnapping of children under Penal Code § 207(e) is no basis to review a decision involving the alleged kidnapping of an adult under Penal Code § 207(b).

In a final effort to raise an issue worthy of this Court's review regarding the law of kidnapping, the State argues that it is "unsettled whether the presence or absence of deception is relevant to the force requirement." (Petition, 21.) But here again, the supposedly "unsettled" legal question is not relevant,

because it pertains to cases involving child victims, not adults. (*Id.* [citing purported conflict between *People v. Dalerio* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 775 [child victim] and *People v. Nieto* (2021) 62 Cal.App.5th 188 [child victim].)² And the law is decidedly *not* unsettled with respect to the interaction of force and deceit in the kidnapping of an adult: force is required, and deceit is insufficient. (*See, e.g., Westerfield, supra*, 6 Cal.5th at 713 ["asportation by fraud alone does not constitute general kidnapping in California"] [citation omitted].)

California courts are in full agreement that a defendant must use some amount of force to kidnap an adult victim. No force was used here. There is no lack of unanimity in the case law and no need to grant review.

² In any event, there is no tension between *Dalerio* and *Nieto*. As Justice Bedsworth explained, "the *Nieto* court did not believe deception alone was sufficient to satisfy the asportation requirement of kidnapping, nor did it believe that *Dalerio* so held." (*Lewis*, 72 Cal.App.5th at 31 [Bedsworth, J., concurring and dissenting].)

II. The State had ample opportunity to argue force.

The State seeks review because, it claims, it was "never afforded an opportunity to address the sufficiency of the evidence of force." (Petition, 25.) This is not the case.

In his opening brief before the Court of Appeal, Appellant argued that there was no evidence he had used force. (Appellant's Brief, 21-22.) The State naturally had every incentive to respond with evidence it believed showed he had done so. And it did. Its brief raised every evidentiary point it now says it was not permitted to bring to the Court of Appeal's attention. It argued that Appellant's use of a car was sufficient force (Respondent's Brief, 25), that the jury could have concluded Ms. Doe was unconscious in the car (*id.* at 27), that Appellant admitted Ms. Doe looked drunk (*id.* at 30), that Ms. Doe had bruises and abrasions when found the next morning (*id.* at 8), that Appellant employed a ruse to convince Doe to leave the bar with him (*id.* at 27), that Appellant supposedly gave Doe alprazolam (*id.* at 28), and the significance of Appellant's cell phone records (*id.* at 32). (Compare Petition, 27-28.) And it cannot be said that the court ignored this evidence once the State raised it, as its opinion

recounts everything the State now says it refused to consider.

(See Lewis, 72 Cal.App.5th at 6-11.)

Moreover, the court gave the State a further opportunity to discuss the sufficiency of the evidence. Following argument, the court issued a request for briefing on the appropriate remedy should it find the instructional error prejudicial. (*See id.* at 17, n.7.) In so doing, it pointed the parties to two cases, both of which discussed whether retrial is permissible after an appellate finding that the evidence was insufficient. (October 12, 2021, Order, *citing Lockhart v. Nelson* (1988) 488 U.S. 33, 41 [holding that "a reviewing court must consider all of the evidence admitted by the trial court in deciding whether retrial is permissible under the Double Jeopardy Clause"]; *People v. Shirley* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 18, 71 [finding no double jeopardy bar to retrial where substantial evidence supported the verdict].)

Appellant accepted the court's invitation and briefed the sufficiency of the evidence. (*See* Appellant's Letter Brief dated Oct. 27, 2021.) The State did not. While its submission noted that the Double Jeopardy Clause bars retrial "when a conviction is reversed 'on the sole ground that the evidence was insufficient to sustain the jury's verdict," the State opted to make no

additional argument about the sufficiency of the evidence at trial. (Respondent's Letter Brief dated Oct. 27, 2021, 2 [quoting *Lockhart*].)

In short, the State briefed the sufficiency of the evidence before argument and was given the chance to brief it again later. It chose not to. That was its prerogative, of course, but it cannot now be heard to complain that it "was never afforded an opportunity to address the sufficiency of the evidence of force." (Petition, 25.) Nor is it accurate to say that the Court of Appeal ignored the evidence the State now points to, given that all of it is recounted in the opinion. There is no basis for review on the grounds that the State was somehow denied an opportunity to fully litigate the case.

III. The Court of Appeal's harmless error analysis was correct.

The State argues that the Court should grant review to "secure uniformity of decision on the application of the harmless error standard to facts in the reduced-force context." (Petition, 24.) The State identifies no conflict in lower court decisions for this Court to resolve but simply argues that the Court of Appeal erred in its analysis on the facts of this case. Not only is there no cognizable basis for review here, but the Court of Appeal was correct.

A. There is no lack of uniformity in the law with respect to "application of the harmless error standard to facts in the reduced-force context."

The State's claim that this Court must ensure "uniformity of decision on the application of the harmless error standard to facts in the reduced-force context" is baseless. (Petition, 24.) The State does not attempt to articulate what legal dispute exists about "the application of the harmless error standard to facts in the reduced-force context." It identifies no conflicting decisions on this issue. Indeed, it only discusses one case addressing harmless error in a kidnapping prosecution – this one.

The State's complaint, then, is not about resolving a conflict in the cases or settling an important question of law. It is merely about the State's dissatisfaction with the outcome of this particular case. That is no grounds for this Court's review. In any event, the court below was correct.

B. The instructions did not require the jury to find force.

In attempting to show the instructional error was harmless, the State first argues that the trial court's instruction *did* require the jury to find force. Not only is there no disputed issue of law here, but the State's reading of the instructions is plainly wrong.

First, the law on this point is clear, and no review is required. Kidnapping requires force, and a trial court that does not instruct a jury to that effect commits error. (*E.g.*, *Green*, 27 Cal.3d at 63 [finding error in instructions that permitted conviction on deceit theory of kidnapping].)

Second, the trial court's instructions here did not require the jury to find force. The State writes that "it is not reasonably likely that the jury understood the instructions as permitting a guilty verdict based on 'deception' alone." (Petition, 22.) But the jury was told it could convict if it found Appellant "used physical force or deception to take and carry away an unresisting person." (*Lewis*, 72 Cal.App.5th at 11.) This instruction cannot be read to mean anything other than what it says: the jury could convict if it found Appellant used physical force or if it found he used deception. (*Id.* at 16 [finding that "the trial court eliminated the force requirement completely when it permitted the jury to conclude Lewis carried away Doe by 'physical force or deception"] [emphasis original].)

Rather than address the plain language of the erroneous instruction on this element, the State rehashes a claim it raised unsuccessfully below: that the instructions on a different element required the jury to find force. This argument concerns the instructions on movement. To be guilty of kidnapping, a defendant must use force or fear to move the victim. (See CALCRIM No. 1203 [requiring jury to find that "using that force or fear, the defendant moved the other person . . . a substantial distance"] [alterations omitted]; People v. Robertson (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 965, 987 [noting that kidnapping requires proof that "using force or fear, the defendant moved the other person or made the other person move a substantial distance" [internal quotation omitted].) The State notes that the trial court told the jury it must find that Appellant "moved [Doe] a substantial distance" and claims "this instruction correctly recited the ... reduced quantum of force." (Petition, 22.) That is not the case. In its movement instruction, the court said nothing about force, of any quantum. To the contrary, it *excised* language from the pattern instruction concerning force:

CALCRIM No. 1203:	Instruction as given:
To prove that the defendant	To prove that the defendant
is guilty of this crime, the	is guilty of this crime, the
People must prove that:	People must prove that:
reopie must prove that.	i copie must prove that.
1. The defendant intended	[1. T]he defendant intended
to commit [specified crime];	to commit rape of a woman
	while intoxicated;
2. Acting with that intent,	[2. A]cting with that intent,
the defendant took, held, or	the defendant used physical
detained another person by	force or deception to take
using force or by	and carry away an
instilling a reasonable	unresisting person with a
fear;	mental impairment;
10u1,	mental impairment,
3. Using that force or	[3. A]cting with that intent,
fear, the defendant moved	the defendant moved the
the other person a	person with a mental
substantial distance;	impairment a substantial
	distance;

(RT 3318-29 [emphasis added].) Thus, rather than telling the jury it had to find Appellant moved Doe through force, as the State now claims, the trial court said only that Appellant had to move Doe, regardless of whether he did so through force or through deceit.

The Court of Appeal, noting the improper alteration of the model instruction, rejected this argument when the State raised it below. (*Lewis*, 72 Cal.App.5th at 16 [finding the trial court's omission of the force requirement from the movement instruction was "an erroneous statement of the law"].) The State does not mention the court's holding on this point, much less demonstrate that it was wrong. There is no basis to find error in the Court of Appeal's decision here.

C. The Court of Appeal correctly applied the harmless error standard.

Next, the State argues that the Court of Appeal applied the wrong harmless error standard. The State's argument appears to be that only reduced force is required to kidnap an incapacitated adult, and so the Court of Appeal should have asked whether a jury properly instructed "on the reduced force required to take and carry away an incapacitated adult would have found appellant guilty." (*Id.*) If it had, the State believes, the court would have determined that a properly instructed jury "would have found appellant's driving Doe to have been forceful." (*Id.* at 25.)

The court below undertook the exact harmless error inquiry the State describes. It explained its task was to decide whether it was clear "beyond a reasonable doubt [that] the jury's verdict . . . was not tainted by the legally incorrect jury instruction." (*Lewis*, 72 Cal.App.5th at 17; *compare* Petition, 24 [arguing the court

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